STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Jul 15 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Richland County
Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHARLES M. MITCHELL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000942

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the circuit court err in denying Appellant a resentencing hearing where Appellant, who was seventeen-years old at the time, was sentenced to a mandatory sentence of life with the possibility of parole in 1992 because his sentence violates the ban on cruel and unusual punishments in the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the ban on cruel or unusual punishments in the South Carolina Constitution?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

When Appellant was seventeen-years old, he was charged with murder. R. 28, ll. 3-14; R. 158. On August 4, 1992, the Honorable R. Henry McKellar sentenced him to life imprisonment with the possibility of parole, which was the only sentence permissible under the law at the time. R. 28, ll. 3-4; R. 28, ll. 22-25; R. 31, l. 24 – R. 32, l. 2; R. 158.

On December 8, 2014, Appellant filed a motion for resentencing. R. 148. On December 5, 2016, the state filed a motion to dismiss. R. 29, ll. 15-24; R. 151. Thereafter, on June 21, 2018, the Honorable R. Knox McMahon dismissed the motion for resentencing, but failed to provide notice of the order to any of the parties involved. R. 30, ll. 1-8; R. 151. When the parties learned of the order of dismissal, the parties agreed to vacate the McMahon order of dismissal. R. 30, ll. 4-8; R. 155. On August 22, 2018, the Honorable L. Casey Manning vacated the McMahon order of dismissal and allowed the case to be reopened. R. 155.

The parties appeared before the Honorable Clifton Newman on February 21, 2019, for a status conference. R. 27. Vance Eaton represented the state. R. 27. J. Rhodes Bailey and Laura Young represented Appellant. R. 27. Thereafter, on April 29, 2019, Judge Newman heard argument on the state's motion to dismiss. R. 42. Eaton represented the state, while Bailey and Young represented Appellant. R. 27. By an order filed May 29, 2019, Judge Newman dismissed Appellant's motion for resentencing. R. 158.

On June 3, 2019, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 197, 682 S.E.2d 275, 279 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. (quoting Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Slocumb, 412 S.C. 88, 91, 770 S.E.2d 436, 438 (Ct. App. 2015). State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in denying Appellant a resentencing hearing where Appellant, who was seventeen-years old at the time, was sentenced to a mandatory sentence of life with the possibility of parole in 1992 because his sentence violates the ban on cruel and unusual punishments in the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the ban on cruel or unusual punishments in the South Carolina Constitution.

Relevant facts

During the hearing on the motion to dismiss, the state argued that Appellant was not entitled to resentencing because he was sentenced to life *with* the possibility of parole. R. 45, ll. 6-16.

Appellant argued he was entitled to resentencing pursuant to the federal and state constitutions. R. 49, ll. 22-25; R. 67, l. 11 – R. 68, l. 24; R. 77, l. 19 – R. 78, l. 20. Regarding his eligibility for parole, Appellant explained that he was still denied a meaningful opportunity for release because the Parole Board failed to consider the Miller factors, was permitted to deny (and had) parole based upon immutable facts of the offense in violation of giving youth constitutional significance, and statistically, the Parole Board denied parole at an astonishingly high rate. R. 50, l. 7 – R. 59, l. 1. In fact, the Parole Board has denied parole to Appellant three times. R. 57, ll. 6-12; R. 80. On March 15, 2012, April 17, 2014, and June 23, 2016, the Parole Board denied parole to Appellant because of the “Nature And Seriousness Of Current Offense,” “Indication of Violence in This Or Previous Offense,” “Use Of Deadly Weapon In This Or Previous Offense.” R. 57, ll. 15-23; R. 88. Appellant argued those three factors were “insurmountable” because no amount of rehabilitation would change those factors. R. 57, l. 25 – R. 58, l. 5. The data supported Appellant’s conclusion. Pursuant to a study conducted by Dr.

Amelia Hritz, parole eligible juvenile inmates in South Carolina received parole at a rate of 8%. R. 52, ll. 17-23; R. 80.

Furthermore, Appellant provided Judge Newman with an actuarial study regarding the life expectancy of incarcerated individuals. R. 91. According to the data, Appellant's life expectancy was fifty-seven years old. R. 60, ll. 13-19. At the time of the hearing, Appellant was forty-six years old. R. 60, ll. 19-20. Therefore, he could expect to live only eleven more years. R. 60, ll. 20-21.

In his order, Judge Newman acknowledged that Appellant requested resentencing pursuant to the South Carolina Constitution. R. 158. Regarding this claim for relief, Judge Newman found "[t]he issue of cruel and unusual punishment under the South Carolina Constitution, however, was not addressed in Aiken v. Byars." R. 158. According to Judge Newman, "[t]he Court in Aiken applied federal constitutional protections against cruel and unusual punishment only with regard to LWOP sentences." R. 158. Thus, he concluded his "authority" to "entertain this matter [was] governed solely by Aiken v. Byars, and, as such, [he was] restricted to granting resentencing hearings only to juveniles who received sentences of life without the possibility of parole." R. 158. As a result, Judge Newman refused to consider Appellant's claim for relief based upon the state constitution. R. 158.

Turning to Appellant's claim for relief pursuant to the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution, Judge Newman remarked that Appellant "did not receive a sentence of life without parole." R. 158. Based upon Appellant's parole eligibility, Judge Newman determined he had "no authority to grant a resentencing hearing." R. 158. Judge Newman explained that "Aiken v. Byars does not contemplate resentencing for individuals who are eligible, but have been denied, parole." R. 158.

Discussion

Introduction

“[C]hildren are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing.” Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 471 (2012). On June 25, 2012, the United States Supreme Court held mandatory sentences of life without parole (LWOP) imposed upon juveniles violated the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Id. Beginning in 2005 with its decision in Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), the Supreme Court began a steady evolution of juvenile justice jurisprudence applicable to the states and federal government. In Roper, the Court held death sentences for juveniles were cruel and unusual punishment. Four years later, the Court held that a LWOP sentence imposed upon a juvenile for a non-homicide offense violated the Eighth Amendment’s ban on cruel and unusual punishment. Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010). Not surprisingly, when presented with the question of whether mandatory LWOP sentences for juveniles in homicide cases violated the Eighth Amendment, the Supreme Court held they did. Miller, 567 U.S. at 489.

“To determine whether a punishment is cruel and unusual, courts must look beyond historical conceptions to ‘the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society.’” Graham, 560 U.S. at 58 (quoting Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 102 (1976)). “Embodied in the Constitution’s ban on cruel and unusual punishment is the ‘precept of justice that punishment for the crime should be graduated and proportioned to [the] offense.’” Id. at 59 (quoting Weems v. United States, 217 U.S. 349, 367 (1910)). Over the years, the cases addressing the proportionality of sentences have developed along two general lines. The first is concerned with the particular circumstances of the case and whether the defendant’s sentence for a term of years is grossly disproportionate given the particular offense. Graham, 560 U.S. at 59; Harmelin v.

Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 1005 (1991). The second classification of cases is concerned with categorical rules as applied to groups of offenses or groups of offenders. Graham, 560 U.S. at 60-61. For example, Supreme Court categorical rulings related to categories of offenses prohibit the imposition of the death penalty for non-homicide crimes against individuals. Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407 (2008). Categorical rulings prior to Graham prohibited the death penalty for defendants who committed their crimes before the age of eighteen, Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), or whose suffered from intellectual disability, Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002).

When adopting categorical proportionality rules, the Court first considers “objective indicia of society’s standards, as expressed in legislative enactments and state practice” to determine whether there is a national consensus against the sentencing practice at issue. Graham, 560 U.S. at 61 (quoting Roper, 543 U.S. at 572). Generally, the Court has relied on social science data and statistics to discern “society’s evolving standards of decency.” Roper, 543 U.S. at 560-77. “[G]uided by ‘the standards elaborated by controlling precedents and by the Court’s own understanding and interpretation of the Eighth Amendment’s text, history, meaning, and purpose,’” the Court, in the exercise of its own independent judgment, then determines whether the punishment in question violates the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution. Graham, 560 U.S. at 61 (quoting Kennedy, 554 U.S. at 421).

Not long after the Court’s opinion in Miller, our Supreme Court reviewed non-mandatory life sentences for juveniles in South Carolina through the lens of Eighth Amendment jurisprudence. In Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 540-541, 765 S.E.2d 572, 575-576 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that Miller applied retroactively and to juveniles who were sentenced to non-mandatory terms of life without parole.

Finding that “Miller does more than ban mandatory life sentencing schemes for juveniles; it establishes an affirmative requirement that courts fully explore the impact of the defendant’s juvenility on the sentence rendered,” the Court held the sentencing judge must “take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison” and that this requirement “deserves universal application.” Id. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 577. Id. (internal quotations omitted). The Court held the class of petitioners in the case “and those similarly situated” were “entitled to resentencing to allow the inmates to present evidence specific to their attributes of youth and allow the judge to consider such evidence in light of its constitutional weight.” Id. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577.

Following Miller, courts have confronted the question of what constitutes a “life without parole sentence,” particularly, in light of the Court’s mandate that juvenile offenders *must* be afforded a *meaningful opportunity* for release unless there has been a finding of irreparable corruption. In order to answer this question, a review the evolution of the Court’s Eighth Amendment jurisprudence as it applies to juveniles is of assistance and of particular import to Appellant’s appeal.

No death penalty for children

In Roper, the Supreme Court established a categorical ban on the death penalty for juveniles relying in large part on social science research indicating that youths have a lessened culpability and are less deserving of the most severe punishments. 543 U.S. at 569-75. Juvenile offenders are fundamentally different from adults for purposes of sentencing for three reasons: (1) they are immature and have “an underdeveloped sense of responsibility;” (2) they “are more vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures, including peer pressure;” and (3) their characters are “not as well formed” as adults. Id. at 569-70 (internal citations omitted). “It is

difficult even for expert psychologists to differentiate between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” Id. at 573. Therefore, “juvenile offenders cannot with reliability be classified among the worst offenders.” Id. While “[a] juvenile is not absolved of responsibility for his actions,” his transgressions are “not as morally reprehensible as that of an adult.” Graham, 560 U.S. at 68 (internal citations omitted).

No LWOP for children convicted of non-homicide offenses

Sixteen-year old Terrance Graham was charged with armed burglary and attempted armed robbery of a barbeque restaurant. Graham, 560 U.S. at 53. Graham entered guilty pleas to both charges pursuant to a plea agreement. The trial court withheld adjudication of guilt as to both charges and sentenced Graham to concurrent three-year terms of probation with jail time. Id. at 54. Shortly thereafter, when Graham was seventeen-years old he was arrested again and charged with home invasion robbery. Graham’s probation officer charged Graham with violating the terms of his probation by “possessing a firearm, committing crimes, and associating with persons engaging in criminal activity.” When Graham appeared before the trial court where he maintained he had no involvement in the home invasion robbery, he admitted to violating his probation by fleeing arrest, even though the trial court emphasized that the admission could expose him to a life sentence based on his previous charges. Id. at 55.

After finding Graham had violated his probation, the trial judge, in his discretion, sentenced Graham to the maximum sentence of life. During the sentencing proceeding, the judge provided his reasoning for the sentence: “We can’t do anything to deter you. This is the way you are going to lead your life.... [T]hat is where we are today is I don’t see where I can do anything to help you

any further.” Id. at 56-57. Florida had abolished its parole system; accordingly, the life sentence gave Graham no possibility of release unless he was granted executive clemency. Id. at 57.

The Supreme Court held that “for a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide the Eighth Amendment forbids the sentence of life without parole.” Id. at 74. Just as the Court did in Roper, the Graham Court, relied upon developments in social science demonstrating the fundamental differences between juveniles and adults:

[D]evelopments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds. For example, parts of the brain involved in behavior control continue to mature through late adolescence. Juveniles are more capable of change than are adults, and their actions are less likely to be evidence of irretrievably depraved character than are the actions of adults. It remains true that from a moral standpoint it would be misguided to equate the failings of a minor with those of an adult, for a greater possibility exists that a minor’s character deficiencies will be reformed.

Id. at 68 (internal citations omitted).

The Court explained the decision was “necessary to prevent the possibility that life without parole sentences will be imposed on juvenile non-homicide offenders who are not sufficiently culpable to merit that punishment.” Id. at 74. Although “[a] state is not required to guarantee the eventual freedom to a juvenile offender convicted of a non-homicide crime,” the state must “give defendants like Graham some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation.” Id. “[W]hile the Eighth Amendment forbids a State from imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile non-homicide offender, it does not require the state to release that offender during his natural life.” Id. at 75. “The Eighth Amendment does not foreclose the possibility that persons convicted of non-homicide crimes committed before adulthood will remain behind bars for life. It does forbid states from making the judgment at the outset that those offenders never will be fit to reenter society.” Id.

While explaining its rationale, the Graham Court noted that a life without parole sentence is the “second most severe penalty permitted by law.” Id. at 69 (internal citations omitted). Additionally, “life without parole sentences share some characteristics with death sentences that are shared by no other sentences.” Such a sentence “alters the offender’s life by a forfeiture that is irrevocable.” Id. For a juvenile offender, a life without parole sentence “means denial of hope; it means that good behavior and character improvement are immaterial; it means that whatever the future might hold in store for the mind and spirit [of the convict], he will remain in prison for the rest of his days.” Id. at 70 (quoting Naovarath v. State, 779 P.2d 944 (Nev. 1989)). Additionally, the Graham Court observed that a juvenile offender sentenced to life without parole will on average serve more years and a greater percentage of his life in prison than an adult offender. “A 16-year-old and a 75-year-old each sentenced to life without parole receive the same punishment in name only.” Id.

Finally, the Graham Court concluded that its new categorical rule “gives all juvenile non-homicide offenders a chance to demonstrate maturity and reform.” Id. at 79. “Life in prison without the possibility of parole gives no chance for reconciliation with society, no hope.” Id. However, “[m]aturity can lead to that considered reflection which is the foundation for remorse, renewal, and rehabilitation. A young person who knows that he or she has no chance to leave prison before life’s end has little incentive to become a responsible individual.” Id. By imposing a “categorical rule against life without parole for juvenile non-homicide offenders,” the Court avoided “the perverse consequences in which the lack of maturity that led to an offender’s crime is reinforced by the prison term.” Id.

No mandatory LWOP sentences for children

In Miller, supra, the United States Supreme Court continued the evolution of Eighth Amendment jurisprudence. The Court extended the reasoning of Roper and Graham by holding that mandatory sentences of life without parole for juvenile homicide offenders also violate the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment. Miller, 567 U.S. at 489. This was a categorical ban. However, the Court further explained that while the decision did not foreclose imposition of a sentence without the possibility of a parole on a juvenile convicted of a homicide offense, the Court required the sentencer “to take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” Id. at 480.

The Miller Court reserved ruling on whether juveniles could ever be sentenced to LWOP. Id. at 479. The Miller Court repeatedly focused on the notion that the character traits of children are “more transitory and less fixed.” Id. at 471. Children by definition lack maturity and responsibility; thus, they are more likely to act with “recklessness, impulsivity, and needless risk-taking.” Id. The Court eloquently explained that due to the innate characteristics of children at large, there is a “great difficulty ... of distinguishing at this early age between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” In fact, the Court stated, “incurability is inconsistent with youth.” Id. at 473 (internal quotation omitted). The Court emphasized the potential for reform present in all juveniles. The Court also emphasized the mitigating qualities of youth and noted “[i]t is a time of immaturity, irresponsibility, ‘impetuosity[,] and recklessness.’” Id. at 476 (quoting Johnson v. Texas, 509 U.S. 350, 367 (1993)).

Although the Miller Court did not hold LWOP to be an unconstitutional sentence in non-mandatory sentencing schemes, the Court held Eighth Amendment jurisprudence governing imposition of death sentences applied equally to cases involving juveniles facing the possibility of LWOP. Id. at 481. The Court’s decision created a presumption against LWOP sentences for juveniles, and most importantly, the Court imported the principles of capital sentencing into cases where juveniles face the possibility of LWOP. Specifically, the court explained that “death is different” and “children are different too.” Id.

“The Eighth Amendment’s prohibition of cruel and unusual punishment ‘guarantees individuals the right not to be subjected to excessive sanctions.’” Id. at 469 (quoting Roper, 543 U.S. at 560). The Miller Court emphasized that “proportionality is central to the Eighth Amendment.” Id. (quoting Graham, 560 U.S. at 59). Focusing on the concept of individualized sentencing, the Court recognized “that children are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing.” Children “have diminished culpability and greater prospects for reform,” and therefore, “they are less deserving of the most severe punishments.” Id. at 471 (quoting Graham, 560 U.S. at 68). “[T]he distinctive attributes of youth diminish penological justifications for imposing the harshest sentences on juvenile offenders, even when they commit terrible crimes.” Id. at 472. As a result, “[a]n offender’s age is relevant to the Eighth Amendment.” Graham, 560 U.S. at 76. In light of the relevance to the ban on cruel and unusual punishment, “imposition of a State’s most severe penalties on juvenile offenders cannot proceed as though they were not children.” Miller, 567 U.S. at 474.

Mandatory sentencing prevents the sentencer from considering the juvenile offender’s “chronological age and its hallmark features, among them, immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences,” the offender’s family and home environment, the extent of the

offender's conduct in the offense and the way familial and peer pressures may have affected him. Id. at 477. The Court required sentencers "to take into account how children are different and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." Id. at 479. Thus, it is clear that sentencing authorities *must* consider a juvenile offender's age and consideration of such *must* be a mitigating factor.

No non-mandatory LWOP sentences for juveniles & Retroactivity

In Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 540-541, 765 S.E.2d 572, 575-576 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that Miller applied retroactively and to juveniles who were sentenced to non-mandatory terms of life without parole. According to the Court, Miller "unequivocally held that youth has a constitutional dimension when determining the appropriateness of a lifetime of incarceration with no possibility of parole." Id. at 542, 765 S.E.2d at 576. Thus, the Court determined "an individualized sentencing proceeding before imposing a sentence of life without parole on a juvenile offender" was required. Id. Recognizing that Miller "did not expressly extend its ruling to states such as South Carolina whose sentencing scheme *permits* a life without parole sentence to be imposed on a juvenile offender but does not *mandate* it," the South Carolina Supreme Court held it "must give effect to the proportionality rationale integral to Miller's holding – youth has constitutional significance." Id. at 542-543, 765 S.E.2d at 576. Therefore, youth "must be afforded adequate weight in sentencing." Id. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 576.

The Court found the Miller decision "clear that it is the failure of a sentencing court to consider the hallmark features of youth prior to sentencing that offends the Constitution." Id. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 576-577. Quite simply, the Court concluded "Miller does more than ban mandatory life sentencing schemes for juveniles; it establishes an affirmative requirement that

courts fully explore the impact of the defendant’s juvenility on the sentence rendered.” Id. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 577. Accordingly, the Court held the requirement that sentencing judge must “take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison” “deserves universal application.” Id. (internal quotations omitted). The Court held the class of petitioners in the case “and those similarly situated” were “entitled to resentencing to allow the inmates to present evidence specific to their attributes of youth and allow the judge to consider such evidence in light of its constitutional weight.” Id. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577.

The sentencing court must consider the following factors in crafting a sentence proportional to the offense and the juvenile offender:

- (1) the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence;
- (2) the family and home environment that surrounded the offender;
- (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender’s participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him;
- (4) the incompetencies associated with youth—for example, the offender’s inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or the offender’s incapacity to assist his own attorneys; and
- (5) the possibility of rehabilitation.

Id. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (internal quotations omitted). While not requiring the sentencing proceedings to “mirror the penalty phase of a capital case,” the Court determined “the type of mitigating evidence permitted in death penalty sentencing hearings unquestionably has relevance to juvenile life without parole sentencing hearings,” in addition to the Miller factors. Id. at 544-45, 765 S.E.2d at 577.

Two years after the South Carolina Supreme Court’s decision in Aiken, the Supreme Court of the United States addressed the retroactivity question of Miller. Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016). In line with our Court’s Aiken opinion, the High Court held that

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