STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jul 02 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
The Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-000942

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

CHARLES M. MITCHELL,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

BYRON GIPSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

## ARGUMENT

**Mitchell is not entitled to a resentencing hearing because he is eligible for parole.**

Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), provides for resentencing hearings for individuals sentenced as juveniles to life without the possibility of parole. Mitchell is eligible for parole, and has already had three parole hearings. Accordingly, Mitchell is not entitled to a resentencing hearing because he is not a member of the class of individuals entitled to relief under Aiken. Mitchell's attempt to have the circuit court perform the functions of the parole board, or invalidate his sentence because of the parole board's supposed defective methodology, is contrary to law. This Court should affirm the trial court's refusal to resentence Mitchell.

**A. Mitchell is not entitled to a resentencing hearing under Aiken because he is not serving a life without parole sentence.**

In Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010), as modified (July 6, 2010), the United States Supreme Court held the Eighth Amendment prohibits LWOP sentences for juveniles for non-homicide offenses. Two years later, in Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), the Court held the Eighth Amendment prohibits mandatory LWOP sentences for juveniles in homicide cases.

In 2014, the South Carolina Supreme Court held Miller required resentencing hearings for juveniles serving LWOP sentences. Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). The court interpreted Miller as creating an affirmative requirement that sentencing courts consider the characteristics of youth

before sentencing juveniles to LWOP. The court provided that its ruling applied only to the “specific punishment” of life without parole sentences. Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 540–41, 765 S.E.2d 572, 575 (2014).

Mitchell is not entitled to resentencing pursuant to Aiken v. Byars because he did not receive an LWOP sentence. The Aiken opinion is expressly limited to LWOP sentences. Mitchell is not a member of this class of affected persons and therefore cannot claim relief under the opinion. State v. Finley, 427 S.C. 419, 428, 831 S.E.2d 158, 162 (Ct. App. 2019), reh'g denied (Aug. 22, 2019) (explaining parole-eligible inmate “is not a member of the class of offenders contemplated by our precedent”).

Not only is his claim outside the scope of Aiken, it ignores the underlying rationale of Aiken, Graham, and Miller. The whole point of Graham and Miller is that LWOP sentences are inherently different from parole-eligible life sentences because the sentence is “irrevocable.” Graham v. Fla., 560 U.S. at 69–70. The graveness of the sentence led the Graham court to label it the “second-most severe” penalty possible in this United States, behind the death penalty. Graham v. Fla., 560 U.S. at 72. The Court explained:

“[An LWOP sentence] means denial of hope; it means that good behavior and character improvement are immaterial; it means that whatever the future might hold in store for the mind and spirit of [the convict], he will remain in prison for the rest of his days.”

Graham v. Fla., 560 U.S. at 70 (quoting Naovarath v. State, 105 Nev. 525, 526, 779 P.2d 944 (1989)). An LWOP sentence is particularly severe for juveniles because it removes all incentive for rehabilitation at a young age. Graham v. Fla., 560 U.S. at

79 (explaining “[m]aturity can lead to that considered reflection which is the foundation for remorse, renewal, and rehabilitation. A young person who knows that he or she has no chance to leave prison before life's end has little incentive to become a responsible individual”).

A state can remedy a juvenile LWOP sentence by commuting the sentence to a parole-eligible life sentence. Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. at 489 (explaining “a judge or jury could choose, rather than a life-without-parole sentence, a lifetime prison term with the possibility of parole or a lengthy term of years”) (emphasis in original); Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S. Ct. 718, 736 (2016), as revised (Jan. 27, 2016) (explaining “[a] State may remedy a Miller violation by permitting juvenile homicide offenders to be considered for parole, rather than by resentencing them”). This is precisely the type of sentence Mitchell is already serving. In fact, Mitchell has already had three parole hearings, and is entitled to additional future hearings every two years. (R.p.88-90; 162). Aiken simply does not apply to his sentence.

By its terms and underlying rationale, Aiken does not apply to Mitchell’s sentence. The trial court correctly concluded his motion for resentencing fails as a matter of law. This Court should affirm.

**B. Mitchell has a meaningful opportunity for release and the circuit court is not an alternate parole board.**

In an attempt to make his case seem similar to Aiken, Mitchell claims he does not have a meaningful opportunity for release because the South Carolina Parole Board grants parole at a “really low” rate. (R.p.52, line 24). At his motion hearing, Mitchell supported his claim by presenting a study showing only 8% of

parole hearings in juvenile murder cases result in release. (R.p.52, lines 22–23).

He claimed this showed it was “almost impossible” to secure early release. (R.p.58, line 24). He claimed the circuit court should “do what [the parole board] won’t do.” (R.p.61, line 11).

On appeal, his argument focuses more on his assertion that the parole board does not adequately consider his age at the time of the crime when deciding whether to parole him. He nonetheless continues to claim he is entitled to a resentencing in circuit court hearing rather than appealing the parole board’s decisions through the proper channels. His argument fails for several reasons. First, the parole board is the sole authority with the power to grant parole and the circuit court does not have the authority to second-guess its decisions. Second, Mitchell is entitled only to a meaningful opportunity for release; his failure to secure parole does not make his sentence unconstitutional. Third, the relief Mitchell seeks would not cure the supposed deficiencies in the parole process. This Court should affirm.

The parole board is the sole authority with respect to decisions regarding the grant or denial of parole. Cooper v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs., 377 S.C. 489, 499, 661 S.E.2d 106, 111 (2008); S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-640 (Supp. 2019). Mitchell’s request for the circuit court to overrule the parole board’s decision is plainly contrary to the statute specifically created to govern the parole system. See Sullivan v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 355 S.C. 437, 444–45, 586 S.E.2d 124, 127–28 (2003) (explaining the judiciary takes a “hands off” approach to avoid becoming “micro-

managers of the prison system”). His argument invites an improper exercise of power by the judicial branch, in violation of the separation of powers doctrine. See Major v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs., 384 S.C. 457, 466, 682 S.E.2d 795, 800 (2009) (citing the separation of powers doctrine and explaining the “General Assembly has not statutorily authorized the courts or the Department to nullify its power to grant parole or determine parole-eligible offenses”). For this reason alone, his claim should be rejected.

But beyond this, Mitchell’s argument badly misunderstands the nature of a sentencing order. A sentence is the “final judgment of the court in a criminal case. . . .” State v. McKay, 300 S.C. 113, 115, 386 S.E.2d 623, 623 (1989). Its terms do not change. Mitchell’s sentence allows him to be deemed eligible for parole under the applicable statutes. It does not become retroactively unconstitutional because Mitchell has been unsuccessful in obtaining release.

If Mitchell believes the parole board is failing to perform its statutory duties, he should appeal through the proper channels to the Administrative Law Court. See Cooper v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs., 377 S.C. 489, 500, 661 S.E.2d 106, 112 (2008). This was the path taken in Hawkins v. New York State Dep't of Corr. And Cmty Supervision, 140 A.D.3d. 34 (N.Y. App. Div. 2016), where the New York appellate court held the parole board was required to consider Hawkins’ age in its parole decision, but did not invalidate his sentence or require a resentencing hearing. Mitchell cites Hawkins in his brief, but the case illustrates

the incorrectness of his claim that his sentence is invalid because of the parole board's decision.

In any case, the underlying claim that the parole board must specifically take into account his age at the time of the crime is unsupported by applicable authority. The consideration of age discussed in Graham, Miller, and Aiken is that made by the trial court in sentencing, not that of the parole board. These are entirely different considerations. The Graham, Miller and Montgomery courts recognized that the parole system is based on demonstrated rehabilitation. Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S. Ct. 718, 736, 193 L. Ed. 2d 599 (2016), as revised (Jan. 27, 2016) (explaining prisoners who “demonstrate rehabilitation” will be good candidates for release while “prisoners who have shown an inability to reform will continue to serve life sentences”).

Even if the circuit court had the authority to review the parole board's decisions, Mitchell has a poor prison disciplinary record and has failed to take substantial steps towards rehabilitation. (R.p.29; 163-62; Prisoner Disciplinary Report). It is no wonder he has been denied parole; he has not taken advantage of the opportunity for release afforded him by his parole-eligible sentence. Furthermore, the parole board's criteria for parole consideration reflect the importance of rehabilitation, but also factor in various other concerns such as the “circumstances of the crime” and the applicant's “mental and emotional health.” (Criteria for Parole Consideration). This undercuts his assertion that the board did not consider his age at the time of the crime in their denial of parole.

Mitchell's sentence provides he is eligible for parole. The fact that his applications have thus far been denied does not show he has been denied a meaningful opportunity for release; it shows he has not shown the change necessary to warrant release. The parole board's decision to deny parole is not reviewable by the judicial branch and resentencing in this case would do nothing to cure the supposed defects in the parole system. His resentencing motion in circuit court is an improper makeshift attempt to achieve a desired result. This Court should affirm.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.